

# ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF HEALTH DISPARITIES IN TEXAS 2020

An Update in the Time of COVID-19

Ani Turner, Altarum Thomas A. LaVeist, Tulane University Patrick Richard, Uniformed Services University Darrell J. Gaskin, Johns Hopkins University



SOLUTIONS TO ADVANCE HEALTH



### **Table of Contents**

SUMMARY						
1	CURRENT DISPARITIES IN HEALTH AND HEALTH DRIVERS		4			
	1.1	Disparities in Health	4			
	1.2	Disparities in Drivers of Health	4			
	1.3	Disparities in COVID-19 Risks, Cases, and Outcomes	6			
2	ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF HEALTH DISPARITIES IN TEXAS		7			
	2.1	Excess Health Care Spending	7			
	2.2	Lost Productivity	7			
	2.3	Premature Deaths	8			
	2.4	Economic Impacts of COVID-19 Disparities	8			
3	THE I	PRICE OF INACTION	9			
APPENDIX: DATA AND METHODS 1						
	A.1.	Population Estimates and Projections	11			
	A.2.	Estimating the Economic Burden of Health Disparities	11			
	A.3.	Applying Model Results to 2020 and Future Years	13			
	A.4.	COVID-19 Economic Impacts	14			

### Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the Episcopal Health Foundation.





### Summary

Our health is fundamental to the quality of our lives. Many factors influence health, including individual characteristics such as genetic predispositions, and the physical and social environments in which we live, often called the "social determinants of health."<sup>1</sup> These social determinants have been shown to have a strong influence on lifetime health, especially for those who live in more challenging environments. We see evidence of this in the very different health outcomes and lifespans of people who live in the same city under different social and economic circumstances. For example, in Dallas County, boys born in the 75204 zip code (average household income \$105,000) can expect to live to age 90, while boys born in the nearby 75215 zip code (average household income \$41,000) have a life expectancy of only 63 years.<sup>2</sup>

In Texas, as in much of the country, the social determinants of health, including access to health care, vary considerably by race and ethnicity. Black and Hispanic children are much more likely to be growing up in neighborhoods of concentrated poverty and their families are more likely to lack health insurance. Not surprisingly, there are also large disparities in health status, disease prevalence, and premature death by race and ethnicity. The COVID-19 pandemic is a real time reminder of how differences in environments and access to care lead to different health outcomes. Being more likely to work in front line service jobs, live in crowded and multigenerational housing, rely on public transportation, have underlying health conditions, and lack health insurance, the virus has taken a disproportionately deadly toll on Black and Hispanic people in the U.S. and in Texas.

Reducing the existing disparities in health will improve the lives of millions of Texans. Health can be improved by investing in public health and neighborhood infrastructure to make environments healthier and by increasing access to needed health care services. Most Texans say health care should be a priority and support more state spending on health programs.<sup>3</sup> But there are always competing priorities for attention and resources. In weighing the value of investments to improve health, it is important to understand that disparities in health impose a substantial human cost and a significant economic burden to the Texas economy. This report puts numbers around that economic burden.

Updating estimates from our 2016 study,<sup>4</sup> we find that differences in health status, disease prevalence, and life expectancy by race and ethnicity in 2020 cost Texas<sup>5</sup>:

- 1. \$2.7 billion in excess medical care spending annually;
- 2. **\$5 billion** in lost productivity annually; and
- 3. 452,000 life years lost due to premature deaths, conservatively valued at \$22.6 billion.<sup>6</sup>

In a decade, these figures will increase by 22 percent as the Texas population grows larger and more diverse. By 2030, if current disparities remain, we estimate it will cost Texas:

4. **\$3.4 billion** in excess medical care spending annually, **\$6.1 billion** in lost productivity annually, and **551,000 life years lost**, conservatively valued at **\$27.6 billion**.

The COVID-19 pandemic has created an additional set of economic impacts today due to environmental and underlying health disparities. Black and Hispanic populations are more likely to contract COVID-19,



and when they do, are more likely to have a serious case that requires hospitalization or leads to death. While not a full assessment of the burden of disparities under this pandemic, we have created estimates of two types of economic impacts due to differences in the effects of COVID-19 on Black, Hispanic, and White populations in Texas.

- 5. If Black and Hispanic populations in Texas were hospitalized for COVID-19 at the same rates as non-Hispanic Whites, there would have been 24,000 fewer COVID-19 hospitalizations in Texas through September 2020.<sup>7</sup> These hospitalizations represent an estimated \$558 million in health care spending on the virus, health care resources that could have been saved or applied to meet other health needs. This figure does not account for the disproportionate human toll of stress and loss on Black and Hispanic families, the lost work time, or any long-term health impacts.
- 6. If Black and Hispanic populations in Texas had the same mortality rates as their non-Hispanic White counterparts, there would have been 5,000 fewer deaths as of the end of September 2020, reducing the Texas COVID-19 death toll by 30 percent, from 16,000 to 11,000. These premature deaths represent 60,000 life years lost, conservatively valued at \$3 billion.



### 1 Current Disparities in Health and Health Drivers

Of the more than 29 million people in Texas, about 41 percent are White, 40 percent are Hispanic, 12 percent are Black, 5 percent are Asian-American, and the remaining 2 percent are American Indian, people of more than one race, and other categories.<sup>8,9</sup> There are substantial differences in overall health and in the prevalence and outcomes of various health conditions among these racial and ethnic groups. There are also differences in access to health care and in social, environmental, and economic circumstances that impact health.



#### 1.1 DISPARITIES IN HEALTH

More Black and Hispanic Texans report that they are not in good health; 23 percent of Hispanics, 21

percent of Blacks, and 16 percent of Whites report being in fair or poor health.<sup>10</sup> Similarly, 53 percent of Whites in Texas report being in very good or excellent health compared to 48 percent of Blacks and 39 percent of Hispanics.<sup>11</sup>

Health disparities start early in life. Infant mortality in Texas varies by a factor of two among racial and ethnic groups. White infants have a mortality rate of 4.5 deaths per 1,000 live births. Hispanic infants have a slightly higher rate of 5.1 deaths out of every 1,000 births. Black infants are much more likely to die before their first birthday, with an infant mortality rate of 10 deaths per 1,000 births.<sup>12</sup>

Prevalence and severity of major diseases also varies by race and ethnicity. Deaths from diabetes are 75 percent higher for Blacks than Whites in Texas, at 20.1 deaths per 100,000 people for Whites and 35.1 deaths per 100,000 people for Blacks.<sup>13</sup> Deaths from cancer are also higher for Blacks, with 180.5 deaths per 100,000 people for Whites, 142.4 deaths per 100,000 for Hispanics, and 217 deaths per 100,000 people for Blacks in Texas.<sup>14</sup> Finally, deaths from cardiovascular disease are higher for Blacks in Texas, at rates of 264.1 deaths per 100,000 people for Whites and 214.7 per 100,000 for Hispanics, compared to 352 per 100,000 for Blacks in Texas, a rate one-third higher than the White rate and two-thirds higher than the Hispanic rate.<sup>15</sup>

#### 1.2 DISPARITIES IN DRIVERS OF HEALTH

While individual factors can be important predictors of some health conditions, the circumstances of our lives – what we call the social determinants of health – are believed to have an even bigger lifetime impact on our health and longevity, especially when they create challenges to staying healthy.<sup>16</sup> Social determinants of health include the quality of air and water in our community<sup>17,18</sup>, the availability of healthy food, opportunities for safe outdoor activities and physical exercise, the strength of social support systems, the opportunities for education and employment, access to quality health care, and the exposure to crime and risk of harm or loss.



There are significant differences in the social and environmental determinants of health among different racial and ethnic groups in Texas. These differences can be reduced, and the health of the population improved through public policies and funding decisions at the state and local level. The Houston Health Department recently produced an in-depth exploration of environmental, social, and economic drivers of health disparities and recommendations for action in Texas.<sup>19</sup> Here we highlight key metrics for the state on disparities in access to health care and other social determinants of health. We also identify potential reasons for the greater impact of COVID-19 on Black and Hispanic populations in Texas.

#### Access to Care

Texas has the largest population of uninsured of any state in the U.S., and the highest percentage of the population without health insurance. In 2018, 20 percent of Texans under age 65 – nearly 5 million people – lacked health insurance. Hispanic families are especially likely to be uninsured. Of adults under age 65, 29 percent of Hispanics lack health insurance, along with 17 percent of Blacks, 13 percent of Whites, and 12 percent of Asian-Americans.<sup>20</sup>

Studies comparing people who gain health insurance with those remaining uninsured have confirmed that those gaining coverage receive more health care, have better physical and mental health, and have improved financial stability.<sup>21,22</sup> For children, having health insurance has been shown to improve long-term health and well-being, including lower rates of adult diabetes and heart disease, fewer preventable hospitalizations, reduced mortality from preventable causes, and even improved academic and economic outcomes.<sup>23</sup>

The 2019 Texas Health Policy Survey confirms that health care is a financial burden for many families and that Texans are foregoing care because of the cost.<sup>24</sup> The survey found that two-thirds (67%) of Hispanic families, 60 percent of Black families, and 44 percent of White families report that it is difficult for their family to afford health care. About half of White families reported skipping or postponing care or treatment because of the cost, a figure that rises to 70 percent for Black families and 65 percent of Hispanic families.

The people of Texas recognize the importance of health care access and coverage. The 2019 Texas Health Policy Survey finds that most Texans (59%) say the state is not doing enough to make sure low-income adults are getting the health care they need, and that nearly two-thirds (64%) of Texans believe that the state's Medicaid program should be expanded to cover more low-income, uninsured people.<sup>25</sup> An overwhelming majority (91%) of Texans say they believe state government should play a role in making sure the health care system works well.

#### Social Determinants of Health

About one in five Black (20%) and Hispanic (21%) Texans are living in poverty, as are 12 percent of Asian-American and 9 percent of White Texans.<sup>26</sup> In addition to examining rates of poverty, it is important in the context of social determinants of health to look at those living in areas of concentrated poverty. Research shows that when 20 percent or more of families in a neighborhood are poor, there is a measurable impact on resources and opportunities available, and on children's life outcomes.<sup>27</sup> In Texas, Hispanic and Black children are six to seven times more likely than White children to live in an area of concentrated poverty, with 22 percent of Hispanic children, 17 percent of Black children, 5 percent of



Asian-American children and 3 percent of White children living in areas where 30 percent or more of families are living in poverty.<sup>28</sup>

Black and Hispanic children in Texas are also more than twice as likely as White children to live in communities that are deemed unsafe by those that live there, increasing both the likelihood of harm or loss and the level of ongoing stress. Based on data from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' National Survey of Children's Health, 19 percent of Black and Hispanic children in Texas are living in neighborhoods that are considered sometimes or always unsafe, compared to 8 percent of White children.<sup>29</sup>

Housing instability and financial insecurity can have negative effects on physical and mental health. Homeownership, a major source of middle class wealth building, is much higher for White families than families of color in Texas. More than 70 percent of White families own homes, compared to 63 percent of Asian-American families, 57 percent of Hispanic families, and 39 percent of Black families.<sup>30</sup> Due to the multi-generational impacts of differences in homeownership and other opportunities for wealth accumulation, net worth varies even more than income. Net worth, or a family's net assets, helps families weather financial hard times and provides capital for investment in education or entrepreneurship, bettering lives today and supporting upward mobility for the next generation. In Texas, Black and Hispanic families have an average net worth of about \$36,000, while White families have an average net worth of \$151,000.<sup>31</sup>

#### 1.3 DISPARITIES IN COVID-19 RISKS, CASES, AND OUTCOMES

As of the end of September 2020, there have been more than 760,000 cases of COVID-19 in Texas and 16,000 deaths. According to the Texas Department of State Health Care Services, 70 percent of the confirmed fatalities were people of color.

COVID-19 mortality rates for Blacks and Hispanics are higher than for non-Hispanic Whites. In Texas, mortality rates are 30 percent higher for Blacks and 80 percent higher for Hispanics overall. However, the differences become much larger when accounting for age. For, example, in the 25 to 44-year-old age group, Black mortality rates are more than four times higher than White rates, and the Hispanic rates are more than seven times higher.

One factor in Hispanic and Black populations being more likely to contract COVID-19 is employment in occupations associated with public contact and that cannot be done remotely. These workers may also be less able to be absent from their job or to have paid time off. In Texas, people of color are more than 40 percent of cashiers, retail salespersons, child care workers, licensed practical nurses, more than 50 percent of bus drivers and transit workers, medical and nursing assistants, personal care aides, and home health aides, and more than 60 percent of building cleaners and housekeepers.<sup>32</sup>

In addition, as we highlighted earlier, Hispanic and Black populations in Texas are less likely to have health insurance and to have a regular health care provider, so less likely to seek or receive early care for symptoms, especially in the first months of the epidemic. We also saw that Black and Hispanic populations are also more likely to have an underlying health condition that makes them more vulnerable to the effects of COVID-19.



### 2 Economic Impacts of Health Disparities in Texas

The focus of this study was to estimate the economic burden represented by differences in health for historically minority racial and ethnic groups, primarily the Hispanic and Black populations in Texas. The basic approach for each type of economic impact was to compute costs under the current health of each racial/ethnic group, and then compute what costs would be if all racial/ethnic groups had the profile of the healthiest group in Texas for their corresponding age and gender. The gap between these two estimates represents the economic burden, or the lost economic potential, of racial/ethnic disparities in health. Our approach assumes that there may be conditions in Texas that affect the health of all populations, but that the gaps among racial and ethnic groups within Texas could and should be narrowed, and that the average already being achieved by the healthiest groups represents a reasonable target. The Appendix to this report presents more detail on our data and methods.

#### 2.1 EXCESS HEALTH CARE SPENDING

If disparities in health by race and ethnicity in Texas were eliminated, then the health care spending associated with these differences in health would also be eliminated. We produced an estimate of the potential decrease in health care spending using econometric models developed by members of the study team and applied in similar studies over the past decade, including previous work in Texas.<sup>33</sup> these models use data from the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS) to relate health status and the presence of various health conditions to health expenditures.

As described in more detail in Section A.2 of the Appendix, we used these models to produce an estimate of health care spending given current health disparities and an estimate of health spending with the health profile of all racial and ethnic groups set to that of the healthiest group. The difference between the two estimates is our estimate of excess health spending associated with racial and ethnic health disparities.

As of 2020, we estimate that **\$2.7 billion** per year in excess health care spending is associated with current health disparities by race and ethnicity in Texas. This spending includes government payer, private insurer, and patient out-of-pocket spending on health care services and goods such as hospital care, physician services, home health care, vision and dental care, ambulance services, medical equipment and prescription drugs.

#### 2.2 LOST PRODUCTIVITY

Productivity impacts of health disparities include differences in days off work due to illness, the likelihood of working and hours worked per year, and the impact on wages due to ill-health. As described in more detail in section A.2 of the Appendix, the team again applied a set of econometric models developed using MEPS data to estimate the labor market productivity impacts of health. Using a multi-step process, these models relate health status, disability, and illness to sick days, annual hours of work, and wages for working age adults. Following the same general approach as for other economic impacts, the models were used to produce productivity outcomes under current health disparities and under the scenario where all groups had the health profile of the healthiest group in Texas, with the difference representing the potential productivity gains associated with eliminating current disparities.



We estimate that the productivity gains associated with eliminating health disparities would be on the order of **\$5 billion** per year. About **\$40 million** of this figure is associated with healthier workers taking fewer days off work due to poor health. Another **\$2.4 billion** is associated with healthier people having a higher probability of being employed and working more hours when employed. The remaining **\$2.2 billion** reflects higher wages associated with better health (likely reflecting greater on-the-job productivity). About \$3.9 billion of the total \$5 billion potential productivity impact is associated with eliminating disparities in health experienced by the Hispanic working age population in Texas, \$1 billion is associated with the Black population and just over \$100,000 is associated with the Asian-American population.

#### 2.3 PREMATURE DEATHS

Applying Texas-specific death rates (pre-COVID-19) for each racial and ethnic group and comparing the results to the deaths that would have occurred using the lowest death rates for that age/gender category in Texas produced an estimate of premature deaths due to health disparities. Based on these premature deaths by age, we computed lost life years by assuming people would have lived to age 75 had these deaths not occurred prematurely.

We estimate that disparities in health and life expectancy are associated with **452,000 lost life years** in Texas today, split about evenly between Blacks and Hispanics. Using a valuation of \$50,000 per life year, which is at the low end of standard values used in cost-effectiveness analyses for medical interventions,<sup>34</sup> this loss of life carries an economic toll of **\$22.6 billion**.

#### 2.4 ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF COVID-19 DISPARITIES

The current COVID-19 pandemic is raising the stakes and the visibility of health disparities in Texas and throughout the country. People of color are more likely to contract COVID-19, and those with the virus are more likely to require hospitalization. National data on COVID-19 hospitalization rates by race and ethnicity show that Black and Hispanic populations are hospitalized at triple the rates of the non-Hispanic white population. If Black and Hispanic populations in Texas had the same COVID-19 hospitalization rates as non-Hispanic Whites, we estimate there would have been **24,000 fewer hospitalizations**, saving an estimated **\$558 million** in health care costs. Of course, this figure represents just one component of the additional cost burden and does not account for the toll on families, lost work time, or any long-term health impacts.

We have noted the much higher COVID-19 fatality rates for Black and Hispanics in Texas, especially when adjusted for age, since populations of color are dying younger. If Black and Hispanic populations in Texas had the same age-specific mortality rates as their non-Hispanic White counterparts, there would have been **5,000 fewer deaths** as of the end of September 2020, reducing the death toll by 30 percent, from 16,000 to 11,000. These premature deaths represent 60,000 life years lost by Texans, their families, colleagues, and communities. A conservative estimate of the economic value of these lost life years using \$50,000 per life year is **\$3 billion**.



## 3 The Price of Inaction

If current disparities in health remain, the impacts will grow in the years to come. The Texas population is projected to grow from 29.7 million people in 2020 to 34.9 million people by 2030.<sup>35</sup> Nearly 90 percent of this population growth is expected to come from people of color, about half from Texans of Hispanic ethnicity.

While Texas has a relatively young and fast-growing population compared to many parts of the country, the population of Texas is aging. The number of people age 65 and older is projected to grow by 40 percent over the next 10 years, from 3.9 million today to 5.6 million in 2030. Today, there are 4.7 people of working age (age 18 to 64) for every person of retirement age. In ten years, this ratio will drop to 3.7 people of working age for every older Texan.



The working age population in Texas is projected to grow by 10 percent over the next 10 years, from 18.3 million in 2020 to 20.9 million in 2030, and all the growth in this population will come from populations of color. In fact, the non-Hispanic White population of working age is projected to shrink by 2 percent. Texans of working age drive the workforce and tax base of communities and the state. They contribute economically and as caregivers to the retirement and health care needs of the older population. With fewer workers per retiree, it is especially important for the workforce in the coming years to be healthy and productive.

By 2030, if current disparities in health remain, the growth and changing racial and ethnic composition of the population will increase excess medical care spending due to health disparities to **\$3.4 billion** per year.<sup>36</sup> The productivity costs of disparities by 2030 will be **\$6.1 billion** per year. Without a closing of the gaps in mortality rates, an estimated **551,000 life years** will be lost due to disparities in health, at a conservative valuation of **\$27.6 billion**.



Policies and programs to improve the health of the people of Texas are a long-term investment. Looking out a generation, by 2050, when today's children are in their prime working years, the Texas population is projected to grow from 29.7 million to 47.3 million people. More than 90 percent of this growth will come from people of color, about half from the Hispanic population and about one-quarter from the Asian-American population. The working age population in Texas is projected to grow from 18.3 million to 28.3 million, and to shift from about 60 percent people of color today to nearly three-quarters people of color. By 2050, if current disparities in health and life expectancy remain, excess medical care spending will double, to **\$5.4 billion** per year, the productivity loss will be **\$8.5 billion** per year, and an estimated **770,000 life years** would be lost, at a conservative valuation of **\$38.5 billion**.



### Appendix: Data and Methods

#### A.1. POPULATION ESTIMATES AND PROJECTIONS

We used population data from the Texas Demographic Center, 2018 Population Projections, to estimate the total and working age population in 2020, 2030, and 2050 for Non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black, Hispanic, Non-Hispanic Asian, and Non-Hispanic Other racial and ethnic categories.<sup>37</sup> We defined the working age population as the sum of age categories 18-24, 25-44, and 45-64.

#### A.2. ESTIMATING THE ECONOMIC BURDEN OF HEALTH DISPARITIES

We estimated the economic impacts of health disparities in Texas in three separate, but related, economic analyses:

- 1. Estimating the direct medical costs;
- 2. Estimating the value of lost productivity associated with health disparities; and
- 3. Estimating the costs of premature death.

We used data from the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS)<sup>38,39</sup> to estimate the potential cost savings of eliminating health disparities for racial and ethnic minorities. We divided the sample into 14 cohorts based on gender and seven age groups: 18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64, 65-74, and 75 and over. Within each cohort, we computed the prevalence for several health conditions for four mutually exclusive racial/ethnic groups -- African Americans, Asians, Hispanics, and whites. Hispanics are persons of Hispanic origins regardless of race. The other racial groups include only non-Hispanics.

The health status and health conditions measures were:

- Self-reported general health status (ranging from excellent to poor)
- Self-reported mental health status (ranging from excellent to poor)
- Presence of a functional limitation
- Body mass index (BMI)/obesity measure
- Presence of chronic conditions (diabetes, asthma, asthma attack, high blood pressure, heart attack, angina, other heart disease, stroke, emphysema, joint pain, arthritis, and cancer).

After computing these values for Texas, we determined which racial/ethnic group had the best health outcomes within each age/gender cohort for each health status/condition. In most cases, it was Asians, but in a few cases Whites or Hispanics had the best health profile within a given age/gender group.

We estimated the impact of these health conditions on health care expenditures, days off from work because of the health condition, annual hours off work because of the health condition, and reduced hourly wages because of the health condition. We then simulated the health care and labor market outcomes by assigning each minority group the best health profile, i.e., eliminating disparities in health in the corresponding age/gender cohort. We computed the costs of disparities as the difference between the predicted outcomes with the actual health conditions and predicted outcomes with the



simulated health conditions.

We used econometric models developed for prior studies to simulate direct health care costs and labor market productivity<sup>40,41</sup> Using 2014 data, we developed a model to estimate health care expenditures for each racial/ethnic group (African American, Asian, Hispanic, and White). Total expenditures in MEPS include both out-of-pocket and third-party payments to health care providers, but do not include health insurance premiums. Expenditures for hospital-based services include inpatient, emergency room, outpatient (hospital, clinic, and office-based visits), prescription drugs, and other services (e.g., home health services, vision care services, dental care, ambulance services, and medical equipment). Prescription drug expenditures do not include over-the-counter purchases. We estimated health care spending as function of demographic, socioeconomic, geographic, and health status measures.

We used a two-part health care expenditure model.<sup>42,43,44,45</sup> First, we used a logistic regression model to estimate the probability of having any type of health care expenditures. Second, we used generalized linear models with log link and gamma expenditures to predict levels of expenditures for individuals with positive expenditures.

To compute the value of lost productivity, we developed three labor market models using the 2014 MEPS. We estimated the impact of health status, disability and illness on sick days, annual hours of work and wages for working age adults, ages 25-64. The model specifications depended upon the dependent variables. For missed days of work, we estimated the impact of health on the probability of missing a workday during the year followed by generalized linear models to predict levels of days of work missed for individuals with positive days of work missed.

We used two-part models for hours worked and wages, too.<sup>46</sup> The first part estimated the impact of health status on the probability that an adult is working. The second part estimated the impact of health on hours worked and hourly wages. Combining the results from these different parts of the models, we computed the productivity costs associated with health disparities. We used a two-step estimator for labor supply to predict lost productivity due to health disparities and adjusted the models by using an inverse mills ratio to account for potential selection bias.<sup>47,48</sup> The health expenditure and labor market models were estimated using the survey regression procedures in STATA 15, which appropriately incorporate the design factors and sample weights.

We computed the predicted values for direct and indirect savings for Texas using Monte Carlo simulations for the different race/ethnic groups (Blacks, Hispanic, and Asians) and for the best model (the racial group with the best prevalence) using the model coefficients (Direct & Indirect Costs). We randomly chose "10000" samples to get "one" predicted probability and "one" predicted mean for the models. We repeated this exercise 1000 times, so we could get 1000 predicted probabilities and 1000 predicted means by race (Stata 15 was used to complete the Monte Carlo simulations). We did not have access to the 2016 Texas MEPS data. To calculate the predictors for Texas in 2016, we used the changes in these variables for the South Region from 2014 to 2016 and applied them to the 2014 Texas data.

We used data from Texas State Vital Statistics to compute the costs of premature death. Specifically, we obtained the number of deaths and crude death rates by age and race for 2015 (the data included seven age groups: under 1, 1-14, 15-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64, and 65-74). We then estimated the



number of deaths that would have occurred for each racial/ethnic group if every group's death rate were equal to that of the racial/ethnic group with the lowest death rate within the age/gender category. The difference between the actual number of deaths and the estimated deaths represents "excess deaths." For each age group, we computed number of years of life lost by subtracting its midpoint from 75, designating death prior to age 75 as premature. We valued each year of life lost at \$50,000.<sup>49</sup> This figure is based on the standard value used in cost-effectiveness analysis for medical intervention. Given that more recent studies have valued a quality-adjusted life year at \$95,000 to \$264,000<sup>50</sup>, \$50,000 is a conservative estimate.

The results of our analyses are shown in Table 1.

#### TABLE 1

	Blacks	Hispanics	Asians	Total
Direct Costs	1.73	0.13	0.30	2.17
Indirect Costs				
Days	0.11	0.19	0.00	0.30
Hours	0.18	1.77	0.10	2.05
Wages	0.59	1.32	0	1.90
Sub-total Indirect Cost	0.87	3.41	0.10	4.25
Premature Death	10.34	10.42	0.01	20.77
Grand Total	12.94	13.83	0.41	27.19

Direct Medical Care Costs, Loss of Productivity Costs and Costs of Premature Death Attributable to Health Disparities for the State of Texas (in \$2016 billions)

Authors' calculations using data from the 2014 Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS); Models adjusted for age, gender, race, marital status, insurance status, education, family income, health status, health conditions and location (urban/rural status and region) and using vital statistics data from Texas Department of State Health Services Annual Vital Statistics Report: Table 24 Life Tables by Race/Ethnicity and Sex.

#### A.3. APPLYING MODEL RESULTS TO 2020 AND FUTURE YEARS

The detailed modeling described in the previous section produced estimates of the economic burden expressed in 2016 dollars (Table 1). Since our study uses 2020 as the current year, we adjusted the estimates to represent the 2020 Texas population and to be expressed in 2020 dollars.

We expressed these estimates in 2020 dollars using the Medical Consumer Price Index (CPI)<sup>51</sup> for direct medical care costs and the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) deflator from the Bureau of Economic Analysis<sup>52</sup> for productivity and premature death economic impacts.

We adjusted the estimates to represent the 2020 population as follows. First, we computed per capita impacts by dividing 2016 impacts by race/ethnicity (expressed in 2020 dollars) by 2016 population counts for the corresponding race/ethnicity. Total populations were used to compute per capita excess health care cost and longevity impacts and working age populations (age 18 to 64) were used to compute per capita productivity impacts. We then applied the 2016 per capita impacts, expressed in



2020 dollars, to the 2020 populations for each race/ethnicity group, using total populations for health spending and longevity impacts and working age populations for productivity impacts.

For 2030 and 2050 economic impact estimates, we followed a similar method, multiplying the 2016 per capita estimates (expressed in 2020 dollars) by projected populations for each racial or ethnic group. Note that economic impacts in 2030 and 2050 are still expressed in 2020 dollars; in other words, they do not include the effects of inflation.

#### A.4. COVID-19 ECONOMIC IMPACTS

We computed the excess hospitalization costs of COVID-19 through September 2020 by first estimating excess hospitalizations. While the evidence from the Texas Department of Health Services shows show higher COVID-19 case rates for Blacks and Hispanics in Texas, no data were available tracking COVID-19 hospitalizations in Texas by race and ethnicity; therefore, we used national COVID-19 hospitalization rates for Black, Hispanic, and White Americans. Nationally, COVID-19 rates for Blacks and Hispanics are about triple the White rate, at 92.9 per 100,000 people for Whites, 311.2 per 100,000 for Blacks and 278.1 for Whites. Multiplying the hospitalization rates for Blacks and Hispanics by the respective Texas populations, we estimated the number of COVID-19 hospitalizations in Texas for these groups.<sup>53</sup> We then computed what hospitalizations would have been if Blacks and Hispanics had been hospitalized at the White rates. The difference was 23,736 hospitalizations. We estimated the health care costs associated with these excess hospitalizations by multiplying 23,736 hospitalizations by the average cost per COVID-19 hospitalization by payer of \$23,489 estimated by Avalere.<sup>54</sup>

We estimated excess deaths due to COVID-19 disparities by first dividing counts of COVID-19 deaths by age group and race/ethnicity for Texas reported by the CDC<sup>55</sup> by our estimates of the Texas population by age group and race/ethnicity in 2020 to produce death rates. Note that the CDC data showed total COVID-19 deaths in Texas as of September 26, 2020 of 15,950, very consistent with the Texas Dashboard data showing 15,895 deaths through October 2, 2020. We then applied the White death rate by age group to the Black and Hispanic populations in the corresponding age group to compute numbers of deaths if disparities in mortality were eliminated. This resulted in 11,000 deaths, compared to about 16,000 actual deaths, for an estimate of 5,000 excess deaths. We estimated life years lost associated with these 5,000 excess deaths by choosing a representative age for each age group (e.g., the midpoint), subtracting that age from an assumed life expectancy of age 75, and multiplying by the number of excess deaths for that age group. Consistent with the overall economic burden methodology, we used \$50,000 per life year to put an economic value on these life years lost.



### Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Healthy People 2030, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Retrieved November 2020 from <u>https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/social-determinants-health</u>

<sup>2</sup>"Life Expectancy at Birth in Communities Across Texas: 2005-2014, Data Summary and Technical Report," (2019) prepared by Sandi L. Pruitt PhD, Eileen Nehme PhD, Molly O'Neil MS, Dan Oppenheimer MFA, Daniel F. Heitjan PhD, Zhiyun Ge PhD, Amy E. Hughes PhD, Danyi Xiong MA, Nagla Elerian MS, and David Lakey MD of University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Department of Population and Data Sciences (SLP, DFH, ZG, AEH), The University of Texas Health Science Center at Tyler/University of Texas System Population Health (EN, MO, DO, NE, DL), and Southern Methodist University Department of Statistical Sciences (DH, ZG, DX). Available at: https://www.texashealthmaps.com/Life-expectancy-in-Texas-2005-2014.pdf

 <sup>3</sup> Sim, S., Marks, E., Ben-Porath, E., Hachey, E., Su, J. (2019). Texas Residents' Views on State and National Health Policy Priorities. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.episcopalhealth.org/en/research/healthpolicy-research-reports</u>
<sup>4</sup> This report is an update to our previous study: Turner A, LaVeist T, Gaskin D, Munoz-Rumsey E., "Economic Impacts of Health Disparities in Texas," Episcopal Health Foundation and Methodist Healthcare Ministries, September 2016. Available at: <u>https://www.episcopalhealth.org/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2020/01/Economic Impact Report EHF and MHM Logos FINAL.pdf

<sup>5</sup> These and other economic impact estimates in this report are expressed in 2020 dollars. Unless otherwise identified, estimates are based on 2020 Texas population estimates by age, sex, and race/ethnicity. Data sources and methods are provided in the Appendix.

<sup>6</sup> Life years lost valued at \$50,000 per life year, at the low end of estimates used in cost-effectiveness analysis. See Appendix for references.

<sup>7</sup> While the data show higher COVID-19 case rates for Blacks and Hispanics in Texas, no data were available tracking COVID-19 hospitalizations in Texas by race and ethnicity; therefore, we used national COVID-19 hospitalization rates for Black, Hispanic, and White Americans applied to the Texas population.

<sup>8</sup> 2020 estimates by age group and race-ethnicity and all Texas population projections in this report are from the Texas Demographer Center, Texas Population Projections Program, 2018 Population Projections by Age, Sex, and Race/Ethnicity, 2010-2050. Downloaded from <a href="http://osd.texas.gov/Data/TPEPP/Projections/">http://osd.texas.gov/Data/TPEPP/Projections/</a> on August 14, 2020. <sup>9</sup> Throughout this report, Hispanic refers to individuals of all races with Hispanic/Latino ethnicity, while White, Black, Asian-American, and Other refer to non-Hispanic individuals in these categories.

<sup>10</sup> State Outcome & Policy Report, Texas. Prosperity Now Scorecard, January 2020.

#### https://scorecard.prosperitynow.org/

<sup>11</sup> American's Health Rankings, United Health Foundation. 2019 Texas outcomes. Data source identified as CDC Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. <u>https://www.americashealthrankings.org/</u>

<sup>12</sup> United States Department of Health and Human Services (US DHHS), Centers of Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), Division of Vital Statistics (DVS). Linked Birth / Infant Death Records 2007-2018, as compiled from data provided by the 57 vital statistics jurisdictions through the Vital Statistics Cooperative Program, on CDC WONDER On-line Database. Accessed at <u>http://wonder.cdc.gov/lbd-current.html</u> on September 10, 2020.

<sup>13</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. Underlying Cause of Death 1999-2018 on [CDC WONDER Online Database] (http://wonder.cdc.gov/), released 2020. Data are from the Multiple Cause of Death Files, 1999-2018, as compiled from data provided by the 57 vital statistics jurisdictions through the Vital Statistics Cooperative Program. Accessed at <u>http://wonder.cdc.gov/ucd-icd10.html</u> on February 18, 2020.

<sup>14</sup> American's Health Rankings, United Health Foundation. 2019 Texas outcomes. Source identified as CDC WONDER Online database. <u>https://www.americashealthrankings.org/</u>
<sup>15</sup> Ibid.



<sup>16</sup>Healthy People 2030, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Retrieved November 2020 from <u>https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/social-</u> <u>determinants-health</u>

 <sup>17</sup> Ihab Mikati, Adam F. Benson, Thomas J. Luben, Jason D. Sacks, Jennifer Richmond-Bryant, "Disparities in Distribution of Particulate Matter Emission Sources by Race and Poverty Status", American Journal of Public Health 108, no. 4 (April 1, 2018): pp. 480-485. <u>https://aiph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304297</u>
<sup>18</sup> American Lung Association, "Disparities in the Impact of Air Pollution." Accessed October 2020 at <u>https://www.lung.org/clean-air/outdoors/who-is-at-risk/disparities</u>

<sup>19</sup> Houston Health Department, "Health Disparity and Health Inequity: 2019 Trends and Data Report, Houston/Harris County, Section 1: Root Causes Creating Health Inequities, Upstream Factors." April 2019. <u>http://houstontx.gov/health/chs/documents/Health-Disparities-Data-Report-I-2019-Root-Causes.pdf</u>

<sup>20</sup> Prosperity Now Scorecard data, derived from the 2018 American Community Survey, U.S. Census Bureau, 2019. Data for Texas accessed October 2020 at <u>https://scorecard.prosperitynow.org/data-by-</u> issue#finance/outcome/income-poverty-rate

<sup>21</sup> Sommers, BD, Blendon RJ, Orav J, and Epstein AM. 2016. "Changes in Utilization and Health among Low-Income Adults after Medicaid Expansion or Expanded Private Insurance." JAMA Internal Medicine. Online August 8, 2016. <sup>22</sup> The Oregon Health Insurance Experiment Results http://www.nber.org/oregon/3.results.html.

<sup>23</sup> Murphey, D. "Health Insurance Coverage Improves Child Well-Being," Research Brief, Child Trends Publication
#2017-22, May 2017. Retrieved from: <a href="https://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/2017-22HealthInsurance">https://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/2017-22HealthInsurance</a> finalupdate.pdf

<sup>24</sup> Sim, S., Marks, E., Ben-Porath, E., Hachey, E., Su, J. (2019). Texans' Experiences with Affordability of and Access to Health Care. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.episcopalhealth.org/en/research/health-policyresearch-reports</u>
<sup>25</sup> Sim, S., Marks, E., Ben-Porath, E., Hachey, E., Su, J. (2019). Texas Residents' Views on State and National Health Policy Priorities. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.episcopalhealth.org/en/research/healthpolicy-research-reports</u>
<sup>26</sup> Prosperity Now Scorecard data, derived from the 2018 American Community Survey, U.S. Census Bureau, 2019. Data for Texas accessed October 2020 at <u>https://scorecard.prosperitynow.org/data-by-</u>

issue#finance/outcome/income-poverty-rate

<sup>27</sup> George C. Galster, "The Mechanism(s) of Neighborhood Effects: Theory, Evidence, and Policy Implications." Presentation at the ESRC Seminar, St. Andrews University, Scotland, UK, 4–5 February 2010.

http://www.clas.wayne.edu/multimedia/usercontent/File/Geography%20and%20Urban%20Planning/G.Galster/St AndrewsSeminar-Mechanisms of neigh effects-Galster 2-23-10.pdf

<sup>28</sup> Annie E Casey Foundation KIDSCOUNT Data Center, <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/7753-children-living-in-high-poverty-areas-by-race-and-</u>

ethnicity?loc=45&loct=2#detailed/2/45/false/1692,1691,1607,1572,1485,1376,1201,1074,880/10,11,9,12,1,185,1 3/14943,14942

<sup>29</sup> Annie E Casey Foundation KIDSCOUNT Data Center, <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/8819-</u> children-who-live-in-unsafe-communities-by-race-and-

ethnicity?loc=45&loct=2#detailed/2/45/false/1021,18,14/10,11,9,12,1,185,13/17674,17675

<sup>30</sup> Prosperity Now Scorecard data derived from the 2018 American Community Survey, U.S. Census Bureau, 2019. Data for Texas accessed October 2020 at <u>https://scorecard.prosperitynow.org/data-by-</u> issue#housing/outcome/homeownership-rate

<sup>31</sup> Prosperity Now Scorecard data, derived from the Survey of Income and Program Participation, 2014 Panel, Wave 4. U.S. Census Bureau, 2019. Data for Texas accessed October 2020 at <u>https://scorecard.prosperitynow.org/databy-issue#finance/outcome/net-worth</u>

<sup>32</sup> Rho H, Brown H, and Fremstad S. "A Basic Demographic Profile of Workers in Frontline Industries." Center for Economic and Policy Research, April 2020. <u>https://cepr.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/2020-04-Frontline-Workers.pdf</u>

<sup>33</sup> Turner A, LaVeist T, Gaskin D, Munoz-Rumsey E., "Economic Impacts of Health Disparities in Texas," Episcopal Health Foundation and Methodist Healthcare Ministries, September 2016. Available at:

https://www.episcopalhealth.org/wp-

content/uploads/2020/01/Economic\_Impact\_Report\_EHF\_and\_MHM\_Logos\_FINAL.pdf

<sup>34</sup> Hirth RA, Chernew ME, Miller E, et al. 2000. "Willingness to Pay for a Quality-Adjusted Life Year: In Search of a Standard." Medical Decision Making 20: 332–342.



<sup>35</sup> Texas Demographer Center, Texas Population Projections Program, 2018 Population Projections by Age, Sex, and Race/Ethnicity, 2010-2050. Downloaded from <u>http://osd.texas.gov/Data/TPEPP/Projections/</u> on August 14, 2020. <sup>36</sup> 2030 projected impacts are estimated by dividing base year economic impacts by associated Hispanic, black, and

Asian population counts to produce per capita impacts, then multiplying the per capita estimates by projected 2030 populations for each racial or ethnic group. Total populations by race/ethnicity were used to project excess health care cost and longevity impacts and working age populations (age 18 to 64) were used to project productivity impacts. Economic impact estimates for 2030 are expressed in 2020 dollars.

<sup>37</sup> Texas Demographic Center, 2018 Population Projections Data Downloads by Age Group and Race/Ethnicity,
2010-1050 in 1 year increments for the State of Texas, <a href="https://demographics.texas.gov/Data/TPEPP/Projections/">https://demographics.texas.gov/Data/TPEPP/Projections/</a>
<sup>38</sup> Cohen JW, Monheit AC, Beauregard KM, et al. 1996/1997. "The Medical Expenditure Panel Survey: A National Health Information Resource." Inquiry 33: 373-389.

<sup>39</sup> Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Center for Financing, Access, and Cost Trends: Medical Expenditure Panel Survey Household Component, 2010. Table 4.a Total population and uninsured persons under age 65: Percent by selected population characteristics, United States, 2010.

http://meps.ahrq.gov/mepsweb/data stats/summ tables/hc/hlth insr/2010/t4a d10.htm accessed Nov 2012. <sup>40</sup> LaVeist TA, Gaskin DJ, Richard P. (2011). "Estimating the economic burden of racial health disparities in the United States." International Journal of Health Services, 41(2), 231-238.

<sup>41</sup> Gaskin DJ, LaVeist TA, Richard P. "State of Urban Health: Eliminating Health Disparities to Save Lives and Cut Costs", (Washington DC: National Urban League Policy Institute), December 2012.

<sup>42</sup> Manning WG, Mullahy J. 2001. "Estimating Log Models: To Transform or Not to Transform?" Journal of Health Economics 20(4): 461-494.

<sup>43</sup> Buntin MB, Zaslavsky AM. 2004. "Too Much Ado About Two-Part Models and Transformation? Comparing Methods of Modeling Medicare Expenditures." Journal of Health Economics 23: 525-542.

<sup>44</sup> Manning WG. 1998. "The logged dependent variable, heteroscedasticity and the retransformation problem." Journal of Health Economics 17:283-295.

<sup>45</sup> Mullahy J. 1998. "Much ado about two: Reconsidering retransformation and the two-part model in health econometrics." Journal of Health Economics 17:241-281.

<sup>46</sup> Ettner, S. L. (1995). The impact of "parent care" on female labor supply decisions. Demography, 32(1), 63-80.
<sup>47</sup> Greene WH. 2005. Econometric Analysis. Upper Saddle River: NJ: Prentice Hall.

<sup>48</sup> Cameron AC, Trivedi PK. 2008. Microeconometrics Methods and Applications. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

<sup>49</sup> Hirth RA, Chernew ME, Miller E, et al. 2000. "Willingness to Pay for a Quality-Adjusted Life Year: In Search of a Standard." Medical Decision Making 20: 332–342.

<sup>50</sup> Braithwaite RS, Meltzer DO, King JT, Leslie D, Roberts MS. 2008. "What Does the Value of Modern Medicine Say About the \$50,000 per Quality-Adjusted Life-Year Decision Rule?" Medical Care 46: 349–356.

<sup>51</sup> U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers: Medical Care in U.S. City Average [CPIMEDSL], retrieved from FRED, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis; https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/CPIMEDSL, November 2020.

<sup>52</sup> We applied the ratio of the mid-year 2020 GDP deflator with base year 2012 (average of Q1 and Q2 deflators) to the 2016 GDP deflator, thus multiplying 2016 dollar values by 1.07 to express them in 2020 dollars. Deflator values were taken from the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis table accessed in September 2020 here:

https://apps.bea.gov/iTable/iTable.cfm?reqid=19&step=3&isuri=1&nipa\_table\_list=13

<sup>53</sup> Applying the national hospitalization rates by race/ethnicity to the Texas population produced an estimate of 52,886 hospitalizations. Texas Department of State Health Services COVID-19 Dashboard data show 784,964 patient days of hospitalization through September 30, 2020, implying an average length of stay per patient of 14.8 days, which seems reasonable.

<sup>54</sup> Avalere COVID-19 Intel Center, "COVID-19 Hospitalizations Projected to Cost up to \$17B in US in 2020", June 19, 2020. Accessed August 29, 2020 at <u>https://avalere.com/insights/COVID-19-hospitalizations-projected-to-cost-up-to-17b-in-us-in-2020</u>

<sup>55</sup> Altarum analysis of data downloaded from *Weekly Updates by Select Demographic and Geographic Characteristics, Provisional Death Counts for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): Distribution of Deaths by Race and Hispanic Origin. This dataset includes state-level death counts by racial and ethnic category.* Data accessed October 6, 2020, reported through 9/26/2020, from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/covid\_weekly/